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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE *
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

* ok ok ok

*

V.

* Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-10960-ADB

CHRISTOPHER R. ESPOSITO, *
ANNTHONY JAY PIGNATELLO, *
JAMES GONDOLFE, *
RENEEGALIZIO, *
LIONSHARE VENTURES LLC, and *

CANNABIZ MOBILE, INC.

Defendants.

* %k oy

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

BURROUGHS, D.J.

. INTRODUCTION

In May 2016, Plaintiff Securities and Exange Commission (the “SEC” or the

“Commission”) filed this civilenforcement action against tworporate entities and four
individuals, including JameSondolfe (“Gondolfe”) and Cannabiz Mobile, Inc. (“Cannabiz”).
[ECF No. 1 (hereinafter the “Cqgotaint”)]. The case arises out aliegations that the defendants
schemed to offer or sell securities without sé@ition or exemption in violation of federal
securities laws and regulations. Currently befine Court is the SEC’s Motion for a Default
Judgment against Gondolfe and Cannabiz [ROF39], which is supported by a Memorandum
of Law [ECF No. 40] and the Declarations@vid H. London (“London Dec.”) [ECF No. 40-1]
and Mark Albers (“Albers Dec.”) [ECF No. 40-2].

On June 3, 2016, the SEC served proocaesSondolfe. [ECF No. 10]. Gondolfe, as
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Cannabiz’'s CEO, agreed to accept service on Cannabiz’s behalf by email on June 7, 2016. [ECF
No. 7]. Neither Gondolfe nor Cannabiz filedamswer or motion wiih the required time
period, which prompted this Court to order Gaifeland Cannabiz to show cause as to why the
Court should not instruct the Clerk to enter ad# against them. [ECRo. 18]. They failed to
respond to this Court’s Show Cause Order. Acogigl, the Court directed the Clerk to enter a
default against Gondolfe and Canrmbn August 2, 2016. [ECF No. 35].

For the reasons set forth in this Memorandaumd Order, the SEC’s Motion for Default

Judgment against James Gondolfe and CarrjgklF No. 39] is GRANTED IN PART.

. LEGAL STANDARD
As set forth in Fed. R. Civ. B5(b), “a plaintiff ‘must apply to the court for a default

judgment’ where the amount of damages clansenot a sum certain.” Vazquez-Baldonado v.

Domenech, 792 F. Supp. 2d 218, 221 (D.P.R. 204ugting Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)). As to the
defendants’ liability, the entry afefault “constitutes an admission of all facts well-pleaded in
the complaint” Id. (internal quotations andlations omitted). Because Gondolfe and Cannabiz
have defaulted in this case, they are “takematee conceded the truth thfe factual allegations

in the complaint as establishing the grounds #dility.” In re The Home Restaurants, Inc., 285

F.3d 111, 114 (1st Cir. 2002) (quoting Franc&elective Ins. Co., 184 F.3d 4, 9 n.3 (1st Cir.

1999)). On a motion for a default judgment, lewer, it is appropria to independently
“examine a plaintiff's complaint, taking all well-pleaded factual allegations as true, to determine

whether it alleges a cause of action.” Ramosdrav. Autoridad de Energia Electrica, 301 F.3d

1, 2 (1st Cir. 2002). Allegatiorthat support a viable caustaction will establish the
defendants’ liability. Se Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b).

With regard to damages, Fed. R. CivbB(b)(2) provides that the court “may conduct



hearings or make referrals . . . when, to eoteffectuate judgmeni, needs to (A) conduct an
accounting; (B) determine the amount of damaf@pestablish the truth of any allegation by
evidence; or (D) investigate any other matter.” A hearingiever, is not necessarily required,
particularly where the pleadings and the mopagty’s affidavits establish the amount of the

default judgment. See In re The Home Restatgtdnc., 285 F.3d at 11#olding that district

court did not abuse its discretion by enterinfadi judgment without first holding evidentiary
hearing, where there was “no urteémty about the amounts asue,” the pleadings contained
“specific dollar figures,” and theourt requested and received @éivits in support of the default
judgment).
1. DISCUSSION

The SEC argues that the facts alleged in its Complaint establish that the defaulting
defendants violated federal seties laws by selling and offerirtg sell unregistered securities
in interstate commerce. The SEC further arghasthese facts entitle it to a permanent
injunction against Gondolfe ari@annabiz enjoining their furtherolation of federal securities
laws and regulations, disgorgement of théigdtten gains with prejudgment interest, civil
monetary penalties against Gondolfe and Cannahitan order barring Gondolfe from serving
as an officer or director @& public company and from partiafing in penny stock offerings. In
this Memorandum and Order, the Court will aakfr whether the Complaint adequately supports
liability before turning to th&EC’s requests for remedies.

A. SUMMARY OF RELEVANT FACTS
The salient facts alleged in the Complairg summarized below. The Court accepts the

well-pleaded facts as true for purposes of Ménorandum and Order. See Conetta v. Nat'l

Hair Care Ctrs., Inc., 236 F.3d 67, 76 (1st Cir. DQdoting that the “entry of default prevents




the defendant from disputing the truth of welkaded facts in the omlaint pertaining to
liability.”).

i Relevant Defendants

Cannabiz is a corporation purportedly base@ambridge, MA, but in reality operated
out of office space it shares with co-defemdaionshare Ventures LLC (“Lionshare”), a
privately held corporation with its principal place of business in Danvers, MA. Compl. 1 14 —
15; London Dec., Ex. A, at 34. Cannabiz inifatlaimed to be in the business of mineral
exploration in Brazil, and, latethe business of servicing theedical marijuana industry. Id.

1 15. Before adopting its current nameCainnabiz, it operated as ReBuilder Medical
Technologies, Inc. from March 2007 to Augu6ii2 and as Lion Gold Brazil, Inc. from August
2012 to May 2014. Id. Cannabiz’s stasknot registered with the &E and it has not registered
any securities offerings with the SEC. 1dn& at least March 2007, however, Cannabiz (and its
predecessors) has been quaed publicly traded on the @xthe-Counter (OTC) securities
markets (“OTC Markets”). Id.

On April 3, 2014, Lionshare’s Meaging Director Christophd®. Esposito (“Esposito”),
despite having no official position with Cannabd, T 10, 26, installed Gondolfe as Cannabiz’s
President, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Qinaan, and sole Director. Id. 11 12, 39. Before
then, Gondolfe had been working odd jobs and at a Boston nightclub. London Dec., Ex. A, at 27.

ii. Allegations

The following factual allegations are agaikda from the SEC’s Complaint, the well-

pleaded portions of which are taken to be byeirtue of the entry oflefault against Gondolfe

and Cannabiz. See In re Therh® Restaurants, 285 F.3d at 114.

The SEC alleges that, beginning in I&tay 2012, Esposito used approximately $75,000



of Lionshare investors’ mondyg purchase five convertibfgomissory notes collectively
amounting to $711,238, which represented all efdhtstanding debt obligations of Cannabiz
(then known as ReBuilder). Compl. { 23. The ng@# Esposito (through Lionshare) effective
control over Cannabiz becauseytwere convertible ahg time into 711,238,000 shares of
Cannabiz’'s common stock (almost 18 timesatmunt of outstandinghares). Id. T 24.

Even though Esposito had no official positionhaCannabiz, he secretly controlled and
funded it. 1d. § 26; London Dec., Ex. A, at 56, 74 — 76, 172, 174; Ex. B (“Chris [Esposito] is
among the largest debt holders of [Cannabiz]@rdsink [it] at any time, as we have no access
to capital and are asking Chris to fund the companBy virtue of their control over Cannabiz,
Esposito and Lionshare were “affiliates’the company. See 17 C.F.R. § 230.144(a)(1)
(defining a company’s “affiliate” as “a person thiatectly, or indiredy through one or more
intermediaries, controls, or ontrolled by, or is under conan control with” the company).

Esposito, however, concealed his affilistatus in order to profit from prohibited
transactions, such as inducing Cannabiz’s trarsfent to issue to Esposito and others millions
of Cannabiz common shares out a restrictie legend. Compl. § 27, 28; London Dec., Ex. A,
at 199-200. Without a restrictive legend, theseeshaould be sold into the public market
despite Esposito and Cannabiz’s having failedamply with the applicable laws regulating
sales of shares owned or controlled by affiliaByshiding his affiliate status and inducing the
issuance of unlegended common shares, Espasitoawvened an SEC rupgohibiting sales of
securities received from afffidate prior to the completin of a one-year holding period. 17
C.F.R. § 230.144(d)(1)(ii).

Moreover, Esposito provided the transdgient various fraudulent and misleading

documents stating that Lionshare was noafdiiate of Cannabiz (by August 2012, Cannabiz



was known not as ReBuilder, but as Lion Gad)l that the to-be-issued ReBuilder common
shares were “free trading common stoakburdened by “restrictiiegend or transfer
restrictions.” Compl. § 29. On July 27, 2012, based on Esposito’s misrepresentations about his
and Lionshare’s affiliate statu$ie transfer agent issued 47 gteertificates without restrictive
legends, representing 18,236,000 shares of ReBuilder common stock, at least 3,675,000 of which
went to Esposito personally. Id. § 31.

On or around October 8, 2012, Esposito dedche transfer ageto issue additional
stock certificates without restrictive legendnder to transfer 3.3 million of his personal shares
to various investor relations “camgants” as payment for their blasts of promotional emails to
potential investors. Id.  32. €ltonsultants sold 2,396,000 of theares to the public, gaining
a profit of $62,835; Esposito perslly sold 94,500 shares tiwe public, gaining $1,950. Id.
1 33. All of this occurred before the expidatiof the one-year holding period. Id.; 17 C.F.R.
§ 230.144(d)(1)(ii)-

On November 16, 2012 and January 8, 201Bo&ito caused Cannabiz (then known as
Lion Gold) to submit to OTC Markets informatistatements for public disclosure that falsely
represented that Lion Mineracao was Lion Goldrelly-owned operating subsidiary. In reality,
Esposito owned 99.99% of Lion Mineracao whtannabiz had no ownership stake in Lion
Mineracao. Id. 1 35, 37. The infoation statements also failed to disclose (i) Esposito and
Lionshare’s control over Cannatitrough the convertible promissanptes and (ii) the dilution
of shareholder equity that would result ifgesito and Lionshare converted this debt into
common stock. Id. § 36. These misrepresentatosomissions left Cannabiz’s investors
unaware of Esposito’s control over Cannabiz, awhip of all its purpded mineral assets, and

ability—at any time—to dilute significantly esting shareholders’ omership interest in



Cannabiz by converting deinto equity._Id.

On or about April 3, 2014, Esposito @gtd Gondolfe as Cannabiz’s President, CEO,
Chairman, and sole director. Id. § 3@ndon Dec., Ex. A, at 31, 132, 168—-69. At this time,
Cannabiz was still known as Lion Gold. Gondaf#ed solely at Esposito’s direction; for
example, he unquestioningly signed false angleading Cannabiz documents that Esposito and
others placed in front of him. Comf§l.39; London Dec., Ex. A, at 59, 111-12, 121-22, 127-28,
135-40, 152-53, 157-60, 16568, 171, 177-81, 188-90, 213-14. Esposito used documents
bearing Gondolfe’s signature to induce Lionl@®transfer agent to issue millions of
unlegended shares, which facilitatine sale of those unregistérghares to the public. Compl.

19 48, 50. Gondolfe ultimately received $101,320ligatten gains for his role in concealing
from investors, regulators, and the transigent Esposito’s actual control of the company.
Albers Dec. § 7; Londobec., Ex. A, at 28-31.

In June 2014, Cannabiz (then known as Liofd{5issued a press release announcing that
its name had changed to Cannabiz and thetdtaltered its business purpose from mining
minerals in Brazil to mobile media and matikg focused on the medical marijuana industry.
Compl. T 44. In August 2014, in order to creatare convertible debt to sell for a profit,

Esposito caused Cannabiz to issue three additbmmaertible notes to Lionshare. Id. 1 45—46.
He backdated these notes to appear as thoeghtd been issued in 2012, thereby concealing
from investors and financial intermediaries tthegt securities in questi had not satisfied Rule
144’s one-year holding period for securities Haefdan issuer’s affiliates. Id.; 17 C.F.R.

§ 230.144(d)(1)(ii). Gondolfe, again following Esfio's direction, signeall three backdated
notes, which were then submitted to OTC MasKet publication. Id. § 46; London Dec., Ex. A,

at 158-60.



Esposito and Cannabiz then provided documesnsaining misrepresentations and false
statements to Cannabiz’s transfer agent in dalerduce the transfer agent to convert the three
backdated notes into more than 8.1 millioarsls of Cannabiz stock certificates without
restrictive legends, thereby facilitating the unresgisd sales of these securities into the public
market. Compl. 1 47-48. These documents ind@hnnabiz Board of Directors resolutions,
signed by Gondolfe, which falsely represented tiatnotes had been created in 2012 and that
Lionshare was not an affiliate of Cannabi.§ 48. Gondolfe and Cannabiz knew, or were
reckless in not knowing, that the documents@olfe had signed contained false statements
because (1) Gondolfe was not even employe@duynabiz in 2012 (the date that appears on the
backdated notes he had signed) and (2) Espasid Lionshare contr@d Cannabiz (and were
therefore its affiliates). Id.  49. As a res@gnnabiz’s transfer agent issued more stock
certificates without restrictive ¢ends, thereby facilitating thelsaf Cannabiz shares to the
public markets notwithstanding the defendantsrepresentation and concealment of such
shares’ Rule 144 restrictions based on Esposito and Lionshare’s undisdfdsge status. Id.

19 50-52.

Esposito then arranged for a stock promotiompany to send out at least 13 email blasts
touting Cannabiz’s stock to potential investon October 28 and 29, 2014. These blasts were
designed to increase Cannabigtock price and trading mmne. 1d. 19 53-54. The blasts
successfully raised Cannabiztck price and trading voliemallowing Esposito and other
defendants to sell their Cannabiz shares to tidigomarket for a profit in violation of Rule
144’s prohibitions on such sales by affiliates. | 55-59; 17 C.F.R. § 230.144(d)(2)(ii).
Esposito and Lionshare also ssluime of Cannabiz’s convertibiebt to two purchasers for a

total of over $303,000. Id. 11 60—62. Based on Esposito’s misrepresentagiarding his and



Lionshare’s affiliate status, ¢htwo purchasers later convertbe debt and sold hundreds of
millions of Cannabiz shares into the public market between October 2014 and May 2015, again
in violation of Rule 144’s restrictiongd. 1 63; 17 C.F.R. § 230.144(d)(2)(ii).

B. Discussion of Liability

i Liability under Section »f the Securities Act

The Complaint’s Fifth Claim for Relief aliees that Gondolfe and Cannabiz violated
Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities A&tU.S.C. § 77e(a), (c). Section 5(a) makes it
unlawful for anyone to sell, directly or indit®g securities through the use of any means or
instruments of interstate commerce withoute#ective registration statement. 15 U.S.C. §
77e(a). Section 5(c) similarly prohibits offers to buy or sell securities unless a registration
statement has been filed. 15 U.S.C. § 77¢e(c).

A prima facie case for a violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) requires a showing that: (1)
no registration statement was ineff as to the securities; (2) thefendant directly or indirectly
offered to sell or sold the securities; and (3)dffer or sale was made in connection with the use

of interstate transptation, communication, or the mails. S&ec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Spence &

Green Chem. Co., 612 F.2d 896, 901-02 (5th Cir. 1980).

After reviewing the facts alleged in the Complaint, the Court finds that they sufficiently
support the claims alleged in the SEC’s Fifth @ldor Relief. First, th&€€omplaint alleges that
Gondolfe and Cannabiz engaged ingh& or offering of “securiti€sas that term is defined in
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. 15.G. 8§ 77b(a)(1); 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10). Compl.
1 77. The Complaint also alleges that Gondolfe and Canpatspnally engaged in these
unregistered sales and offerings of securitiesialation of Sectiorb(a) and 5(c) of the

Securities Act. Id. T 78. As Cartna’'s President, CEO, Chairmaand sole director, Gondolfe



signed false and misleading Cannabiz documeatsatbre then used to issue millions of
unlegended shares that were then soltiégpublic._Id. { 38-398-50. Gondolfe ultimately
received $101,320 for his role in concealing friowestors, regulators, and the transfer agent
Esposito’s actual control of @aabiz. Albers Dec. {7; London Dec., Ex. A, at 28-31. Finally,
the Complaint adequately alleges that these sales and offerings were made in connection with the
use of interstate @ansportation, communication, or the mails. Thus, the SEC has npaiceaa
facie showing that Gondolfe and Cannabialated Sections 5(a) anddj(of the Securities Act.
Once the SEC pleadspama facie violation of Section 5, thdefendant bears the burden
of proving that the securities tire transactions qualified for @xemption from registration. See

Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Ralston Purina, 346U119, 126 (1953). Because the defendants here

have defaulted, they have not rebutted the SipGrsa facie showing. Therefore, the SEC has
sufficiently demonstrated the defendants’ Section 5 liability.

ii. Gondolfe and Cannabiz’s liability under Section 17(a)(2) of the
Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5

Section 77q(a) of the Securities Act prohipitsthe offer or sale of securities: (1)
devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (2xi0bng money or property by means of materially
false or misleading statements or omissions, @) transactions, praces, or courses of
business that operate as a fraud or deceit. $53J8 77q(a). Section 1Q(bf the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder prohibit any personpimection with the purchase or sale of any
security, from, directly or indicly: (1) employing any device, schemeatrtifice to defraud; (2)
making any untrue statement of material facbmitting to state a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements made not misleadmn@) engaging in any transaction, practice,

or course of business that ogtes or would operate as add or deceit upon any person. 15

10



U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.10b-5; see also Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Tambone, 597 F.3d

436, 442 (1st Cir. 2010) (quoting RULOb-5). In a civil enforceemt action brought by the SEC
itself, the SEC need not prove any investacsual reliance on the srepresentations. See
Tambone, 597 F.3d at 447 n.9. Lastly, violatiohSections 17(a)(1) and 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
require proof of scienter, butaims based on Sections 17(a)é2d 17(a)(3) do not. See Aaron v.

Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, 446 U.S. 680, 701-02 (198the Commission is required to establish

scienter as an element of a civil enforcemetibado enjoin violation®f § 17(a)(1) of the 1933
Act, 8 10(b) of the 1934 Act, and Rule 10b-5 .hut] need not establishieater as an element
of an action to enjoin violations &f17(a)(2) and 8§ 17(a)(3) of the 1933 Act.”).

Section 10(b) and Rule 1@gb) thereunder prohibit “makjg] any untrue statement of a

material fact in connection with the purchasesale of securities.Janus Cap. Grp. v. First

Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 13%1 (2011) (quoting Rule 10b-5)he Complaint alleges that

Gondolfe and Cannabiz “made” misrepresentatanm omissions by signing fabricated SEC
filings and other false corporate documents laatkdating convertible notes in a scheme to
induce Cannabiz’s transfer agent to issue millions of Cannabiz’s common shares without a
restrictive legend. See Compl. 4§-48. Without such a legend, thebares were sold into the
public market despite Cannabiz’s failure to comply with SEC Rule 144’s one-year holding
period applicable to shares owned or contratigdn affiliate. Id. 7 30, 46-48; see 17 C.F.R.
§ 230.144(d)(1)(ii).

The SEC also sufficiently alleges that Gondolfe and Cannabiz acted with the scienter
required for § 17(a)(1) and § 10(b) liabilityuttnot required fo817 (a)(2) or § 17(a)(3)
liability). See Aaron, 446 U.S. at 701-02. Scientex imental state embraqg intent to deceive,

manipulate, or defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. ¢hdelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n.12 (1976). It may be

11



proven by indirect evidence and may include@xie recklessness. See In re Cabletron Sys.,

Inc., 331 F.3d 11, 38 (1st Cir. 2002). Recklessmegolves “an extreme departure from the
standards of ordinary care [thatiesents a danger of misleading lsyar sellers that is either

known to the defendant or is so obvious therattast have been aware of it.” Greebel v. FTP

Software, Inc., 194 F.3d 185, 198 (1st @®99) (internal citation omitted).

Here, the Complaint alleges that Gondolfeedat Esposito’s direction by knowingly or
recklessly signing numerous backdated and dthedulent Cannabiz corporate documents and
regulatory filings as part of éhfraudulent scheme to conceapgsito’s ownership and control of
Cannabiz. Compl. 11 46—49. Gondolfe knew, or kga&less in not knowing, that he was signing
false documents backdated to 2012 because he knew that (1) Esposito installed him as CEO in
April 2014 and he had never been associated with the company in 2012 and (2) Esposito, not

Gondolfe, actually controlled the company. I1di9 see Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Garber, 959 F.

Supp. 2d 374, 380 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). Lastly, Gondoltaigl Esposito’s scienter can be imputed

to Cannabiz. See SEC v. Manor Nogs 458 F.2d 1082, 1096 n.17 (2d Cir. 1972) (an

individual's “knowledge ismputed to the corporations which he controlled”).

Furthermore, the SEC has adequately alleged that these misstatements were “material”
because they influenced Cannabiz’s transfenatp issue stock certifications without the
restriction that would hae prohibited their salprior to the expiratiof the Rule 144 one-year
holding period. Compl. 1 30. Consequently, hundddsillions of Cannabiz shares were sold
to the investing public despitegal prohibitions on their salelsl. § 63; see Joyce v. Joyce

Beverages, Inc., 571 F.2d 703, 707 (2d Cir. 1978aigstent about the paotigal availability of

Rule 144 could have misled the reasonable shatehwito thinking that [Rle 144] was, in fact,

available to him”).

12



The misstatements and omissions thatated 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, moreover,
support a violation of § 17(a)(2): Cannablztained $11,255 in ill-gotten gains and Gondolfe

obtained $101,320 by means of thesisstatements and omissions. See, e.qg., Tambone, 597 F.3d

at 449 (“defendant may be held primarily liabde misstatements appearing in reports authored
by outside analysts when those misrepregents are based on information provided by
defendant”); Albers Dec. { 7-8.

Thus, the SEC has adequately established Gondolfe’s and Cannabiz’s liability under
§ 17(a)(2), & 10b, and Rule 10b-5(b).

iii.  Gondolfe and Cannabiz’s liability der 8 17(a)(1), (a)(3) of the
Securities Act, 8 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5(a), (c)

The SEC next alleges that Gondolfe &wahnabiz employed schemes that violated
§ 17(a)(1) and § 17(a)(3) of tisecurities Act and 8§ 10(b) die Exchange Act and Rule 10b-
5(a), (c) thereunder. As stat above, the SEC has adeqlyaddleged that Gondolfe and
Cannabiz acted with scienter, an edgrrequired by § 17(a)(1) and § 10(b).
Scheme liability arises where the defendants employ a deceptive device for the purpose

of defrauding investors. See Sec. &BxComm’n v. Durgarian, 477 F. Supp. 2d 342, 351-52

(D. Mass 2007), aff'd, Sec. & Exch. ComnvnPapa, 555 F.3d 31 (1st Cir. 2009). Here,

Gondolfe and Cannabiz were vital participant&sposito’s scheme to create the deceptive
appearance that Cannabiz securities were no¢sttg trading restrictions. They directly or
indirectly fabricated backdated convertibletes, signed false corporate documents, and
submitted them as part of a scheme to inducé&émsfer agent to issue hundreds of millions of
Cannabiz shares ultimately sold to the invespinglic despite legal prohibitions on their sale.
Compl. 1 45-48, 63.

Because the SEC’s Complaint adequasdligges that Gondolfe and Cannabiz had

13



engaged in a scheme to defraud with scietiterCourt finds that 8@SEC has properly shown
Gondolfe and Cannabiz’s liability under 8 17(3) 8 17(a)(3), and Rule 10b-5(a), (c).
V. RELIEF
C. Disgor gement
In light of the defendants’ dafi#t, the SEC has requested thia¢ Court enter an Order of
Disgorgement and Prejudgment Interest [EGF B8]. In a case involviqviolations of the
federal securities laws, the Cobds “broad discretion not only @etermining whether or not to

order disgorgement but also in calculatingdhgount to be disgorgedSec. & Exch. Comm’n

v. Druffner, 802 F. Supp. 2d 293, 297 (D. Mass. 2@juipting_Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. First

Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1474-75 (2d1896)). The amount of disgorgement “need

only be a reasonable approximatiorpodfits causally connected the violation,” and the “risk
of uncertainty in calculating disgorgemeshiould fall on the wrongdoer whose illegal conduct

created that uncertainty.” Sec. & Ex€@omm’n v. Happ, 392 F.3d 12, 31 (1st Cir. 2004)

(internal quotationsrad citation omitted).

After reviewing the Declaration of Mark Albg the SEC’s forensic accountant, the Court
finds that the disgorgement amounts requebtetthe SEC reasonably approximate profits
causally connected to the illegal conduct altegethe Complaint. In order to estimate the
appropriate disgorgement figuretims case, Albers reviewdxhnk records and other documents
produced to the SEC, and concluded ®annabiz received $11,255 and Gondolfe $101,320 in
ill-gotten gains. Albers Ded]f 7—8. He then calculated that, based on those figures and the
interest rate used by the Internal Reve8eevice (IRS) in charging interest on tax
underpayments, Cannabiz incurred a prejusiginmterest of $439 and Gondolfe $5,361. Id.

19 10-11. The Court finds no error in Mr. Albers&culations, which represent a reasonable

14



approximation of profits causally connedtto the defendants’ violations.
Prejudgment interest on disgorged profitalso appropriate in order to prevent
“defendants from enjoying an imést-free loan on their illicithobtained gains.” Sec. & Exch.

Comm’n v. Levine, 517 F. Supp. 2d 121, 141 (0D2007) (citing Sec. & Exch. Comm’'n v.

Kenton Cap., Ltd., 69 F. Supp. 2d 1, 16-17 (D.D.C. 19Di8¢ SEC's proposal to use the IRS’s

interest rate on tax underpayments is apprtgbacause it reasonably approximates the unjust
benefit of the use of Hyjotten money. See Firdérsey, 101 F.3d at 1475-76.

Therefore, the Court will order Cannabiz to disgorge a total of $11,694 (its ill-gotten
gains plus prejudgment interest) and Gondtufdisgorge a total of $106,681 (same).

D. Civil Penalties

The SEC further argues that the Court should impose civil penalties upon the defaulting
defendants pursuant to § 20(d){2)the Securities Act, 15 U.S.€.77t(d)(2), and § 21(d)(3) of
the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)(i). Conapl20. Those statutesithorize the Court to
determine the amount of theryaty “in light of the facts and circumstances.” 15 U.S.C.

88 78u(d)(3)(B)(i), 77t(d)(2)(A)see_Sec. & Exch. Comm’n ern, 425 F.3d 143, 153 (2d Cir.

2005) (“The tier determines the maximum penaltighwhe actual amount of the penalty left up
to the discretion of the district court.”). “Both statutes provide three dfpenalties, the amount

increasing with the severity ttie violation.” Sec. & Exch. Gom’n v. Manterfield, No. CIV A

07-10712-RGS, 2009 WL 935953, at *1 (D. Mass. Apr. 8, 2009). The “Tier | penalties are
generally applicable . . . . Tidlrpenalties require ‘fraud, deceit, manipulation, or a deliberate or
reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement,’and Tier Il penalés require the Tier Il

elements plus ‘substantial losses or . . . significiak of substantial leses to other persons.

Kern, 425 F.3d at 153 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)(2)) (internal citations omitted).
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“Civil penalties are intended to punish thdividual wrongdoer and to deter him and

others from future securigeviolations.” Sec. & ExchComm’n v. Monterosso, 756 F.3d 1326,

1338 (11th Cir. 2014) (citing Sec. & Exch.i@m’n v. Sargent, 329 F.3d 34, 41 n.2 (1st Cir.

2003)). In determining the appropriate fineuds have considered factors including the
egregiousness of the violation, the defendaniflngness or failure to admit wrongdoing; the
isolated or repeated naturetbé violations, the degree ofiscter involved, the defendant’s
cooperation or lack thereof wituthorities, and the defendantisrrent financial condition. See,

e.g., Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. ConvergeoBl, Inc., No. 04-80841CV, 2006 WL 907567, at *6

(S.D. Fla. Mar. 10, 2006); Sec. & Exédbomm’n v. Cavanagh, & 98-1818DLC, 2004 WL

1594818, at *31 (S.D.N.Y. July 16, 2004).

Here, the SEC requests that the Court irep3ier 11l (thirdtier) penalty of $178,156
against Gondolfe and $890,780 against Cann&iE, No. 39 at 1-2, each of which is the
maximum third-tier penalty permitted for ciyienalties imposed after August 1, 2016. See 17
C.F.R. Part 201, Subpt. E, Tbl. I; 2016 \®519790 (June 27, 2016) (increasing maximum Tier-
lIl penalty to account for inflation adjustments). Aflthe conduct giving rise to liability for the
defendants in this case occurred before May 2015.

The Court finds that, based on the allegatiorthénSEC’s Complaint, third-tier penalties
against Cannabis and Gondolfe are warranted. They were instrumental in an illicit scheme to
evade the securities laws’ registration requiresehey acted with saier in signing false
corporate documents solely to induce Cannabiaisstier agent to issumillions of shares of
Cannabiz stock without a restiie legend, which falitated the unregisted entry of these
securities into the public market. Cannabiz @whdolfe’s actions caused investors to suffer

substantial losses when the Cannabiz shthmshad bought became worthless after the
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conversion of Cannabiz debtdithe dumping of millions d€annabiz shares onto the public
markets. Private investors who purchased Canmabarivertible debt also sustained losses. In
addition, Cannabiz and Gondolfe have not atseepesponsibility for their actions—they
defaulted, failing to appear before thisutt to defend or explain their conduct.

The Court, however, will apply the thitter penalty amounts effective for the period
covering the violative conduct, raththan the newest penalty amounts adjusted for inflation. See
17 C.F.R. Part 201, Subpart E, Tbl. I; 2016 WL 3519790 (June 27, 2016). The SEC notes that its
newest inflation adjustment to the penalty amsytunlike prior inflation adjustments, applies
to all penalties imposed on or after that dateluding penalties imposedrfeiolations occurring
before the effective date.” [ECF No. 40 atrl7]. The Court, however, is concerned with a
possible constitutional problem. There is a prgsion against retroactevlegislation. Landgraf

v. USI Film Prod., 511 U.S. 244, 265 (1994). “[Cloasgional enactments and administrative

rules will not be construed to V&retroactive effect unless théanguage requires this result.”

Id. at 244 (quoting Bowen v. GeorgetoWwniv. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204, 208 (1988)).

The Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjtment Act Improvements Act of 2015 (the
“2015 Act”) amended the prior acts governing theatidin adjustment regime to make inflation
adjustments retroactive and, theref, applicable to penaltiesrfeiolations that predated the
current inflation adjustment rate. See Pub. L. 114-74 Sec. 701, 129 Stat. 584 (Nov. 2, 2015), to
be codified at 28 U.S.C. § 2461 note Sed.&e 2015 Act, making inflation adjustments to
penalties retroactive, was ereatton November 2, 2015. It statdearly that the inflation
adjustment rates should have retroactive effect with resptw dlate of that inflation rate
adjustment, but is silent on retroactivity with spect to violations that predate @@15 Act itself.

The Court agrees that amb as the violative conduct ocoed after November 2, 2015,
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inflation-adjusted penalties have retroactitfea, but the Court is not persuaded that the
retroactive effect exteisdpast November 2, 2015. The Court ntked different federal agencies
have taken different positions on this question.

When the Court raised its concern at theoDer 18, 2016 hearing and stated that it was
inclined to use the prior inflation adjustmenteato avoid the consttional problem, the SEC
indicated that it would not arguke point with the Court. Prior this most recent increase, the
third-tier penaltyamount for violations occurring aftdtarch 5, 2013, the applicable time period
for the conduct charged, was $775,800an entity and $160,000 for an individual. See 17
C.F.R. 8 201.1001 and Table I. In light of theartainty regarding thgrecise scope of the 2015
Act’s retroactive mandate, which implicates constitutional concerns, the Court applies the third-
tier penalty amounts from the period coug the conduct at issue in this case.

Accordingly, the Court imposes third-tielvil penalties of $160,000 on Gondolfe and
$775,000 on Cannabiz. See 17 C.F.R. § 201.1001 and Table I.

E. Permanent Injunction

The SEC has also requested that the Genter a permanent injunction enjoining
Gondolfe and Cannabiz from commiti further violations of the &eral securities laws. See 15
U.S.C. § 77t(b); 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1). “An ingtion is appropriate ihe Court determines
there is a reasonable likelihood thia¢ defendant will violate the laws again in the future.” Sec.

& Exch. Comm’n v. Druffner, 517 F. Supp. 2d 502, 513 (D. Mass 2007) (citation omitted). To

determine whether the defendant is reasonably likelyolate the laws again in the future, the

1 Compare 12 C.F.R. § 1083.1 (2017) (Under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau rule,
the “adjustments . . . shall apptycivil penalties asessed after January 15, 2017, regardless of
when the violation for which the penalty is assessed occunétlii’8 C.F.R. § 85.3 (2016)
(Under the Department of Justiade, the adjustments apply penalties “assesd after August

1, 2016, whose associated violations occurred after November 2, 2015”).
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Court looks to “whether a defenus violation was isolated guart of a pattern, whether the
violation was flagrant and delitae or merely techaal in nature, and whether the defendant’s
business will present opportunities to violatelthwe in the future.” Id. (quoting Sec. & Exch.

Comm’n v. Bilzerian, 29 F.3d 689, 695 (D.C. dif94)). In light of the allegations in the

Complaint, which describe an elaborate and dedite scheme to defraud investors, the Court
finds that a permanent injunction enjoini@gndolfe and Cannabiz from committing further
violations of the federalegurities law is warranted.
F. Director/Officer Bar Against Gondolfe

The SEC next requests that this Court band®lfe from serving as a public company’s
officer or director. Section 20(@f the Securities Acand Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act
authorize a court in an SEC enforcement actidmatoor suspend a defendant from serving as an
officer or director of a public company, “conditionally or unconditionally, and permanently or
for such period of time as [the Court] . . . shall determine.” 15 U.S.C. § 77t(e); 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u(d)(2). Pursuant to thaasitory authority, the Court haslsstantial discrebin to determine
whether a defendant is unfit $erve as a public company’s officardirector. See Sec. & Exch.

Comm’n v. Selden, 632 F. Supp. 2d 91, 97 (Ds8&009) (citing Sec. & Exch. Comm’'n v.

Patel, 61 F.3d 137, 141 (2d Cir. 1995).

The facts alleged in the SEC’s Complaint destoate Gondolfe’s lacsf fitness to serve
as a public company’s officer or directoro@lolfe willingly, repeatdly, and unquestioningly
signed falsified and backdateorporate documents atfésito’s command. He enabled
Esposito’s scheme to defraud investors and colluded with him in illicitly selling millions of
Cannabiz shares to the public market. TheretbieCourt deems it appropriate to permanently

bar Gondolfe from serving as a public compamffgcer or director. e Sec. & Exch. Comm’n
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V. Spencer Pharm., 2015 WL 5749436, at *8 (D. M8sgt. 30, 2015) (imposing officer/director

bar on defendant who had engaged in a manipualatheme using false corporate information).
G. Penny Stock Bar Against Gondolfe

Lastly, the SEC requests a similar ordarring Gondolfe from participating in penny
stock offerings. Section 20(g)(dj the Securities Act and Semti 21(d)(6)(A) of the Exchange
Act give the Court discretion toar a defendant from offering eelling penny stocks. 15 U.S.C.
8 77t(g)(1); 15 U.S.C. 8§ 78u(d)(6)(A). Such a beay be “conditional[ ] or unconditional[ ], and
permanent| ] or for such period of timeths court shall determine.” Spencer, 2015 WL
5749436, at *8 (quoting 15 U.S.C. &%t(g)(1), 78u(d)(6)(A)). Her&Zannabiz’'s stock traded as
a penny stock as defined in Section 3(a)(51hefExchange Act and Ru3a51-1 thereunder. 15
U.S.C. 8§ 78c(a)(51); 17 C.F.B240.3a51-1. For many of the same reasons that justify the
director/officer bar against Gondolfe, the Gadeems a permanent penny stock bar against
Gondolfe appropriate and the public interest.

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the SEC’s MofionDefault Judgment against Gondolfe and

Cannabiz [ECF No. 39] is GRANTED IN PART.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:January27,2017
/s/ Allison D. Burroughs
ALLISON D. BURROUGHS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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